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DAY 04 – 29 June 2016 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, morning everyone, now this Hearing is for the 5 

confined purpose of having the evidence that is to be cross-examined 

led and then cross-examined and any questions that arise from that as 

per the Minute. 

 

 And Mr Winchester, just at the end, just to signal you may want to 10 

discuss a timetable for closing submissions so perhaps to give some 

thought to those sorts of things in terms of the usual sequence I would 

imagine, but we will deal with that later. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, all right.  Prior to introducing the evidence, sir, do 15 

you wish to hear from me briefly your Minute in relation to your clear 

interim view on sea level rise assumptions? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well - - - 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   I do intend to address it in some detail in closing 

submissions, but I thought it would be useful to foreshadow the 

Council’s position on that, perhaps I can do that once you have taken 

appearances from other parties? 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks Mr Winchester, I think that is probably 

appropriately, obviously positions are reserved until closing in any 

event when we form our views based on what we are hearing through 

the Inquiry subject to closings but I will hear from you on that in due 

course. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just in terms of appearances, now the Crown, Ms Silcock.  

 35 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes, sir.  I would also like to foreshadow that the Crown 

takes neutral position on the matters in respect of this Hearing and on 

that basis, sir, I would seek leave to be excused. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, that is fine, yes, you can be excused. 40 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir, there is a Crown representative maintaining a 

watching brief during this Hearing and we will also await your 

directions on closing submissions. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, that is fine, they will come out by Minute once I 

get some sense of what works for the parties. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   For the Coastal Residents Group? 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Warwick Schaffer. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning, Mr Schaffer.  So are you going to do the 10 

cross-examination? 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   I am. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I will just note that.  I think we will let your co-15 

residents sit alongside you today, it is normal for them to go down the 

back but given that everyone is settled in we will leave it as it is. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you very much. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Mr Winchester, do you want to call Mr Whyte 

to go through the normal process including allowing him to provide a 

summary, but before you do that, if you could give us that position that 

you wanted to give us. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you, sir, this relates to the Panel’s Minute of 

22 June 2016 which granted leave to withdraw Dr Smart’s evidence 

and, of course, the corollary of that is that subsequently Mr Arnold’s 

evidence has been withdrawn.  So I suppose putting a marker down that 

we expect that to the extent that evidence is not live, it will not form the 30 

basis for cross-examination of these witnesses.   I will be vigilant on 

that sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, that is just normal, I just note that the 

residents cross-examination relates to the evidence before the Panel 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   The substantive matter, I suppose, that the Minute 

raised is the Panel’s interim intention to adopt a zero metre assumption 

for sea level rise in terms of the mapping of the high flood hazard 

management areas, and as I said, that matter will be addressed and I see 40 

it has been reserved for written closing submissions. 

 

 So some issues to foreshadow there, sir, in terms of that interim 

intention.  There is a concern from the Council’s perspective that 

adopting that assumption will result in inconsistencies in terms of 45 

management of flood hazards in particular, and I do wish to remind the 
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Panel, and I am not seeking to be difficult about this but the high flood 

hazard management area is exactly that, it is a flood hazard 

management area which has a significant coastal influence in part, so it 

is a flood hazard, it would not be within the scope of the direction 

within the Order in Council which removed coastal hazards from the 5 

Panel’s jurisdiction.  So any subsequent plan change that deal with 

coastal hazards will not address the high flood hazard management area 

issue. 

 

  [10.10 am] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Mr Winchester, just to clarify that.  So you are 

referring there to fact that the amendment to the Order in Council 

included all – I think it is clause 8A, to exclude the matter you referred 

to from the Panel’s jurisdiction? 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which presumably also leaves the Council with its 

planning jurisdiction to change the plan? 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It does. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the issue the Panel is grappling with on the evidence 

that we have heard to date, relate to a few things, and one is it seems, at 25 

least to us, unless you can persuade us otherwise, that sea level rise as a 

topic when we are dealing with, what is effectively, a part of the coastal 

environment in this case primarily, although not obviously entirely , 

and certainly acknowledge the mapping goes up river and so forth, but 

we look, for instance, at South Shore as an example of what I am 30 

referring to, the topic sea level rise seems in resource management 

terms to be a topic that needs to be approached holistically given the 

fact that it is an influence that cuts across those matters broadly. 

 

 And secondly, that the consequences of the matter for this purpose are 35 

in relation to regulation of land use and development, the same land 

use, the same development effectively in the same context.  So that is 

the conundrum for us and that is relevant to how we look at our 

alternatives under Section 32. 

 40 

 It seems to us, as is the evidential matter that relates to that and the 

extent of evidence that the Panel has before it.  So at this stage, it just 

seemed to us that if one was looking holistically at the issue of sea level 

rise and hazards, then the better planning approach may well be to deal 

with it holistically. 45 
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 In other words, given the Council has jurisdiction to deal with its 

planning, once operative, by way of plan change, for example, which 

ensure, for instance, that the various matters not before the Panel by 

edict but nevertheless very much the subject of debate it would seem, 

given the positions that have been presented to us and reliant on 5 

technical opinion, can be dealt with in a holistic way for this 

community at one time without subjecting the community to regulation 

in advance of that evidence being properly tested. 

 

 So that is the conundrum you are going to have to try to deal with in 10 

closing because it is a bit of a problem for the Panel and it did seem to 

us that the better course for both sides, was as reflected in our Minute.  

It forms no prejudgement on matters that should be probably tested 

holistically. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir, I understand what you are saying and can I just 

check that your issue is with an apparent lack of evidence about 

impacts related to the FHMAs rather than anything else in terms of the 

higher order planning documents, because of course, the higher order 

planning documents and the Regional Policy Statement is very clear in 20 

terms of what the direction is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will weigh all that up and you can deal with that in 

your closing, but it is pretty much as I said, I do not want to subdivide 

it into one topic, there are several that I mentioned, that is one. 25 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

 I mean, if you take for instance, what is the most appropriate, form of 

activity status for land at South Shore for development purposes and 30 

that was the subject of significant debate.  

 

 The proposition of non-complying activity applying across the swath of 

land there is one proposition, and we invited the Council to come back 

and the Council has come back on the alternative proposition of 35 

restricted discretionary.  But we are going to have to weigh up whether 

or not the activity classification should be one or the other, but based 

on effectively the proper base upon which we should be making a 

decision on hazards, and that is the conundrum. 

 40 

 So perhaps at this stage, the proper course would be for you to call your 

evidence, I do not know if I can debate it with you any further, it may 

not be proper for me to do that, I think you indicated you were wanting 

to give an outline of what the issue was rather than enter into a full 

debate with the Chair.  45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   That is right, sir, and I will list it for the purpose of 

going on the record - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I hope you do read the record of the transcript on 

this because it is something we really want the Council to give proper 5 

focus to in its closing.  And as I say, if it relates to questions of activity 

classification, the extent of hazard protection that we ought to provide 

for at this stage, and the lack of a full body of evidence on a matter that 

is truly holistic in its nature.  

 10 

 Do you not think it is holistic? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, sir, what you probably have not had because of 

the effect of the Order in Council is clear evidence about the distinction 

between what is a coastal hazard and what is a high flood hazard. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If we look at the topic of sea level rise, is the Council’s 

position that it should not be treated holistically for this community, 

that it could be dealt with now, and then dealt with later, even though 

the evidence later, for instance, might be different from the evidence 20 

we get not? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   The Council’s position is that it is being dealt with 

holistically in terms of the high flood management areas, the flood 

management areas which of course already incorporate a one metre sea 25 

level rise assumption.  They are in force - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - that is not open for debate  in terms of the Stage 1 30 

decision.  That coastal influence on the flood management areas 

already exists, that assumption is built into the model.  As I understand 

the Panel’s Minute, in terms of Stage 2 flood management areas, the 

one metre - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   (INDISTINCT 2.56) flood hazard management area, 

Mr Winchester - - - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - which is quite different from the minimum floor level 

regime of Stage 1 in its decision.  In that case, in terms of the impact on 

the landowner, there is a way through.  In other words, the landowner 

can apply for consent to get a certification for their floor level, but the 

high flood hazard management area has quite a different regulatory 45 

consequence. 
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 So it is not really in that sense locked down in the way you describe 

with the Stage 1 decision, I do not think. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, there is a different regulatory approach, sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well there is a different flood management approach as 

well.  It is not the same flood management we are talking about is it, it 

is the high flood hazard as opposed to flood management? 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   It is, and the flood management areas would always be 

a subset of the high flood management areas, but what we are now run 

the risk of is high flood management areas with the zero metre sea level 

rise assumption and the lines of those being inside where the floor 

levels for FMA is going to be and in terms of that outcome, sir, that 15 

runs the risk of being perverse.  Adopting a zero metre sea level rise 

assumption in terms of setting a regulatory framework and lines for the 

high flood management area also in my submission, runs the risk of 

being – well certainly not giving effect to the Canterbury Regional 

Policy Statement. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does the plan have to give full effect to the Canterbury 

Regional Policy Statement at every stage? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, it doesn’t sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well clearly it can’t, it is part of the plan that has been 

carved out by the Order in Council. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, but again, sir, in my submission, the Panel is 30 

running the risk of conflating the holistic approach with different 

hazards and different assumption, and you have not had evidence on 

coastal hazards and coastal erosion matters and about the inputs and 

assumption that go into, that would go into that because it has been 

taken out of our hands. 35 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

 So what you are faced with is evidence from the Council which 

responds to the Regional Policy Statement and the very strong 40 

directions in that and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And Section 32. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - and Section 32, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   In terms of benefit and costs and risks which we have to 

weigh - - - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - in order to give effect to the Regional Policy 

Statement. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I accept that, I am simply outlining a number of 

issues to which I will absolutely take up your invitation to cover in 10 

more detail in written closing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in doing so, you will need to think about that 

dimension and how it relates to the activity classification. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is understood, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it would be good to know what the Council’s 

position is on both of those paradigms because they do interrelate. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes and I suppose there are separate in my submission 

but interrelated issues of level of regulation and what the assumptions 

are, and it is dangerous in my submission to use the assumptions and 

change the assumptions in order to create or result in, a regulatory 

approach which is more benign. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I mean, without – just so that we can fully 

understand the issues for debate, one scenario is a decision which 

records quite specifically that this matter is a matter which may be 

revisited through plan change in light of the work, if the Panel forms a 30 

view on the evidence that I have signalled to you in light of closing 

submissions, then a decision could issue on that scenario that would 

make it quite explicit that this whole debate will be concluded once the 

matters that are related holistically, are addressed holistically.  That is 

one approach. 35 

 

 Another approach is, and the Panel would be interested in the Council’s 

view on it, is non-complying activity the most appropriate category 

across the board for land use and subdivision in this area pending the 

completion of that work, or should it be more contestable by way of a 40 

restricted discretionary activity classification which is why we asked 

for that evidence as well. 

 

 So the Panel remains open, obviously as it should, to being advised 

through submissions of what parties consider the most appropriate 45 

approach. 
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 The Panel’s conundrum is it feels as though, number one, it is dealing 

with a new topic, high flood hazard management, number two, on a 

quite stringent regulatory regime basis, number three, in the face of a 

number of submissions expressing concern about how that impacts, and 5 

number four, on the basis of evidence at Stage 1 that was very thin, but 

nevertheless sufficient and supportable for what Stage 1 was able to 

determine, number two, the evidence brought in at Stage 2, is 

necessarily incomplete in the sense that the work being done by the 

Council relates to it in regard to sea level rise and the work being done 10 

it seems in regard to coastal hazards which is a point that submitters 

have made to us a number of times in their representations. 

 

 So how does the Panel deal with that conundrum and ensure that it 

applies the holistic approach that the Resource Management act intends 15 

in terms of the evaluation of options under Section 32?  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I understand all of that, and thank you for outlining 

those paths. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And thank you for engaging, it can be testing for both of 

us but it is helpful and I think and healthy, to bring the matters to light. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Absolutely, sir, and you will appreciate I am acting 

under instructions in raising these issues. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I understand, thank you, all right.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I will obviously have the opportunity to address them in 

further detail, I do not think there is much more from my list that I need 30 

to have, that I need to relay to you, I think we have probably unearthed 

most of the key issues and concerns that the Council has and I certainly 

understand where the Panel is coming from. 

 

 So without further ado, sir, I will call Mr Whyte. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I will do that now, call Greg Whyte. 

 40 
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<GREGORY MARK WHYTE, sworn [10.25 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [10.25 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Morning, do you confirm that your full name is Gregory 

Mark Whyte and that you have the qualifications and experience set out 

in previous statements of evidence given to the Panel? 5 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes, I am and I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, and do you confirm you have prepared a 

supplementary statement of evidence on high flood hazard modelling in 10 

response to a Direction from the Panel and that supplementary 

statement is dated 20 May 2016? 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes, I have. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have any amendments or corrections to that 

supplementary statement? 

 

MR WHYTE:   No, I do not. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Can you confirm then that to the best of 

your knowledge and belief that statement is true and correct? 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes, correct. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you.  You have a brief summary of your evidence 

which I will ask you to read out and then remain where you are and 

answer any questions? 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes.  Good morning, so my name is Greg Whyte and I am 30 

employed by DHI Water and Environment.  I am here today to give 

evidence on the supplementary work requested by the Panel for the 

mapping of the high flood hazard management areas.  The Panel 

specifically requested that zero metre and 0.5 metre sea level rise 

scenarios were modelled.   I will address the methodology of this 35 

request and the associated modelling. 

 

 Flood modelling are used as rainfall and tidal water levels as inputs to 

produce flood depths, water levels and associated extents.  Flood 

modelling software solves the conservation of mass and momentum 40 

equations. Five flood models covering different areas across the city 

are being used to produce high floods and flood hazard extents, all of 

these models use DHI software which is the company I work for, but 

they have been built by different companies using that software. 

 45 
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 This is a little bit of regurgitation of previous presentations that I have 

done but are probably just good to get everyone up to speed again.  The 

same base models that were discussed at the Stage One hearing were 

used for the high flood hazard analysis but this additional modelling 

which results in mapping requested by the Panel has resulted in tidal or 5 

water level boundaries for each model being changed from a one metre 

sea level rise allowance to be replaced with a zero and a 0.5 metre 

allowance. 

 

 The model results are then processed into high hazard and mapped 10 

accordingly, just noting that the Halswell model boundary out falling 

into Lake Ellesmere / Te Waihora is of different nature when compared 

to the other model boundaries which are tidal boundaries. 

 

 Lastly estuary water levels are applied simply as an intersection of a 15 

static water level surface in the estuary and surrounding land levels 

which defines the high hazard therefore the relationship between using 

a reduced sea level rise assumption and the location of the modelled 

line is linear and that concludes my summary. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Schaffer, cross examination.  Now just to 

sort of give you a little bit of guidance at the beginning Mr Winchester 

raised an issue and I made a comment about it in regard to the nature of 

cross-examination and the scope of the evidence here.   

 25 

 That is obviously an important aspect of due process bearing in mind 

that the parties both came with a wider brief of evidence in the first 

instance the Council then had issues with the availability of its witness 

and was not able to resolved those and your client has also elected to 

not call certain evidence. 30 

 

 That should set some narrower parameters than what you might have 

initially thought were relevant for cross examination if I could give you 

that guidance. 

 35 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you very much, Panel and Council for taking the 

time to hear us again, and we have done our best to stick to the 

evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks Mr Schaffer, now that microphone is quite 40 

sensitive, if you could just direct your - - - 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Is that better for everybody? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is better, thank you.  45 
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MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR SCHAFFER [10.30 am] 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Mr Whyte, thank you.  I only have five questions here 5 

today.  The first question is regarding – or firstly, can you confirm that 

the rainfall loading and the one metre sea level rise or the two degree 

scenario modelling is the same as that used in the lesser zero and zero 

point five metre scenarios? 

 10 

MR WHYTE:   Yes it is the same, yes.  

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Can you confirm that rainfall is projected to increase as 

temperatures rise? 

 15 

MR WHYTE:   That is what we are being told, yes.   

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you. Given that the lower sea level rise scenarios are 

meant to represent lower global warming scenarios, shouldn’t rainfall 

loading in these models have been decreased? 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, this is regrettably exactly the sort of issue that was 

raised in Mr Arnold’s now withdrawn evidence in terms of critique of 

Mr Whyte’s evidence.  So I just raise that issue.  I am happy for 

Mr Whyte to attempt to answer the question.  25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and we will let the question sit, but just a little 

comment on this Mr Schaffer.  So the previous answer from Mr Whyte 

possibly sent a signal, he said “we’ve been told so”. 

 30 

MR SCHAFFER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now the reason he would have said that as an expert 

staying within the Code of Conduct and the scope of his evidence and 

expertise, is that he is not an expert on those matters, but they are 35 

inputs to modelling, for instance perhaps.  So you need to bear in mind 

that if you are wanting answers to those sorts of questions there is no 

evidence before the Panel from those primary experts. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   I understand.  So does this question stand? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well you can put it again if you like, but just bear in mind 

that – I hope that helps you and Mr Winchester and yourselves. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   I guess where we are coming from here is we have 45 

boundaries of these models based on modelling by - - - 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well this witness is a witness in modelling so you can 

test him on modelling and boundaries as part of modelling. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Right, I understand where you are coming from now.   5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just take your time. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Yes, given that the lower sea level rise scenarios are meant 

to represent lower global warming scenarios, shouldn’t rainfall loading  10 

in these models have been decreased? 

 

MR WHYTE:   Well I guess from our perspective we were instructed to keep 

the rainfall the same for those scenarios and that is what we did, but I 

don’t have an opinion on that.   15 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   I understand.  Is it correct that the modelling used one in 50 

year high tide on top of a one in 200 year rainfall event – the modelling 

to find out the boundaries used a one in 50 year high tide in conjunction 

with a one in 200 year rainfall event? 20 

 

MR WHYTE:   No.  So what we are talking about here is the 500 year event, 

rainfall event, which is combined with a 50 year tidal event. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Right. 25 

 

MR WHYTE:   So it is a combination event, so 500 – rainfall was combined 

with the 50 tide and a 50 rainfall was combined with a 500 tide. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Right.  30 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   And that would set the outer limit of the mapped boundary? 

 35 

MR WHYTE:   That produces depth, flood depth, which is then converted into 

flood hazard. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Yes. 

 40 

MR WHYTE:   Which then sets the high flood hazard area. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   And as a modeller do you have any idea of the joint 

probabilities of both of these things occurring at the same time? 

 45 
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MR WHYTE:   It is not something we have investigated, this is an approach 

that has been used for many years for Christchurch City work, and I 

think it is a reasonable approach to suggest that you would get some 

sort of tidal event with a rainfall event.  

 5 

  [10.35 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So are you answering the question? 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So what I am asking is, about the probabilities of these two 10 

events occurring at the same time, given their mapping, literally the 

outside and the water depths - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was it, “do you have any idea of the probability of those 

two events coinciding”, was it? 15 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   On any given day? 

 

MR WHYTE:   No, it is not something that we have investigated, and I guess 

that – I guess you are talking about Mr Arnold raised exactly the same 20 

thing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well Mr Arnold’s evidence is not before us on this unless 

you are referring to the previous brief – so I remind you as well that Mr 

Arnold’s second brief is not before the Panel. 25 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   That is all my questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks Mr Schaffer. 

 30 

 Now, Mr Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Ms Huria? 35 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Whyte, I just want to make sure that I fully 

understand the differences on the maps in what has been produced from 

the modelling, and at the end of your evidence in 4.1 you helpfully say 

the differences are clearly evident and then you list some maps where it 

is too good to look at, and do you have your maps there with you? 45 
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MR WHYTE:   I do not actually, ma’am, no.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Perhaps - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are they on the system Mr Langman? 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   I just want - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will be able to bring up the relevant ones thank you. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So I have just got a few where – I just want to make sure I 

understand what is happening in terms of the changes in the modelling, 

so six is I am going to start with, which is the Heathcote River – sort of 

further up the Heathcote River. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   46 I think. 

 

MS DAWSON:   46. So this shows some red areas and am I right in thinking 

that there is not – there is no change in the high flood hazard modelling 

mapping in that area, because I cannot see the one – I mean as far – am 20 

I right in thinking that the one metre, the half metre and the zero metre 

all overlay one and other in those upper areas? 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes, I am not sure – I have not seen the maps presented like 

this, ma’am, but - - -  25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well just look at the key. 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes, well I am just trying to understand the key, sir, so there 

should not be, I mean where we are outside of the tidal influence of the 30 

river then they should be the same because they just getting affected by 

rainfall. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. So these are in the upper – well and further up in the 

Heathcote? 35 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And you have said in your evidence, “Differences are 

obvious in the following areas” and you included map 46 in your list 40 

there, and I am not sure if the difference is obviously, I mean I am 

wondering if there is any difference at all in that map, in the areas 

shown on that map – it is very hard for you to see, I know, at that scale. 

 

MR WHYTE:   Can you point to an area specifically, ma’am? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Well the key has got purple up and down lines for the one 

metre, purple shading for the half metre and red shading or pink 

shading for the zero metre, and whereas the blue dots are flood 

management areas so we can ignore those – and as far as I can see, and 

you have answered me this – in these upper areas of a river like the 5 

Heathcote, there should be no difference and I cannot see any 

difference between the one metre, the zero metre and the half metre 

mapping, and is that – I mean am I right, as far as you, am I right in my 

observation? 

 10 

MR WHYTE:   Yes, you should not, you – outside of the influence the tidal 

area you should not see a difference, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. So in these areas that are shown here as “high flood 

hazard” under any of the assumptions, am I right in thinking these are 15 

areas that are close to the large river, in this case the Heathcote and 

where it would reach the one metre or the one metre per second 

threshold for high flood hazard? 

 

  [10.40 am] 20 

 

MR WHYTE:   It is probably more the, it will be more the depth ma’am that, 

so it will be the greater than one metre depth rather than the 

multiplication of the velocity and depth, more than likely. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   More than likely, okay. 

 

MR WHYTE:   And that applies for the bulk of the city really. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 30 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay.  There are a few places where the velocity, irrespective 

of depth, is the driving influence in terms of the high flood hazard 35 

mapping, in terms of it being a high flood hazard. 

 

MR WHYTE:   Sorry, ma’am, what was - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   There are a few places where the velocity drives the high 40 

flood hazard. 

 

MR WHYTE:   In Christchurch, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Christchurch, okay. 45 
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MR WHYTE:   Yes, because it is so flat, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if we turn to the next page which is 47, which is further 

down the Heathcote.  In this one, this is right in the bottom end of the 

Heathcote in the Heathcote Valley, there is quite a lot of just the area 5 

with the purple up and down dashes on it, which is the one metre.  

There are then some tiny areas of just purple shading which is the half 

metre and no areas at all when the modelling assumption is zero. 

 

 So in these areas I am right in assuming that the modelling assumptions 10 

on sea level rise have a major influence over what ends up getting 

mapped as a high flood hazard?  And those are areas where there would 

be, more in the nature of ponding areas, where floodwater would come 

in and would lie at depths greater than a metre? 

 15 

MR WHYTE:   Yes, that is correct ma’am.  The current tidally affected areas 

will be affected more but then also your tidal extent will also increase, 

so it will go further up. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Further up, yes. 20 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, and let us quickly look at 41.  That is probably not 

necessary but, oh, yes 41, which is the Southshore area, and that is 25 

where you are just saying it is a linear, round the estuary it is just a 

linear extent of the sea level rise, sea level that was mapped. 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Which does not have that flooding and river water 

component added into it. 

 

MR WHYTE:   No, essentially it is a bathtub.   

 35 

MS DAWSON:   And you draw the top level of it - - - 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and you just extend it out to wherever the topography 40 

(INDISTINCT 2.50), yes. 

 

MR WHYTE:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And if you go further up that map to the north you can see a 45 

little area or purple but there is no red, which means that once it has 
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gone down to zero is the assumption in the modelling the land takes 

care of it more easily? 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes, that is correct, yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  And then just on the Avon, if we could look at 26.  And 

the Avon seems to have, the Avon catchment has these really large 

ponding areas which you can see going to the north and off to the west 

of this map.  You can see parts of them there where again those look to 

me, am I right in thinking those are large ponding areas where with the 10 

change in the model assumption, in other words the downstream sea 

level assumption that the sea, this pushes the flooding back up into 

these areas, well it cannot get away from those areas, and so there is a 

significant influence on the extent and the depth of the flooding with 

the (INDISTINCT 4.23) in the sea level rise assumption. 15 

 

MR WHYTE:  Yes that is correct, especially in the lower Avon, yes, definitely.  

And it is a combination of the water not being able to get out and water 

coming back up the Avon.  But what you are looking at in the sense of 

them, there is Travis Swamp and the waterway that comes down from 20 

there, it is the depth of the water essentially is creating that high hazard. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, if you could just move so you could just see the top of 

that map.  You can see how the (INDISTINCT 4.59) area then the 

purple area and then the even wider again which show the extended 25 

ponding areas on the different assumptions, but if we just go back 

further down that map, if you look closer to the Avon there is the area 

closer to the banks of the Avon. 

 

  [10.45 am] 30 

 

 Although there is some difference there, on the different assumptions, it 

is more like the ones we have looked at in the Heathcote in that the 

difference between the different sea level rise assumptions is less 

marked when you are closer in to the rivers.  Is that correct, am I 35 

correct in that? 

 

MR WHYTE:   Yes, ma’am, you are seeing that down the bottom there.  But I 

think the outlets to some of these other areas are the Avon so they are 

very much controlled by that tidal level in the Avon so that is why you 40 

are seeing that effect sort of almost offline.  It appears offline but it is 

not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  I understand that.  All right.  I think those are enough 

examples to give me an understanding of how it works and what the 45 
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different mechanisms are that create differences in some areas and less 

difference in other areas.  All right, thank you very much, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Whyte, I have got no questions for you.  Mr Schaffer, 

any questions arising from the Panel’s questions? 5 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   No questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Winchester? 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Nothing from me, sir, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Well thank you very much for your assistance.  

You are free to go. 

 15 

MR WHYTE:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.46 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Ms Evans. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, I will call Ms Evans. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   And just before I do, sir, there was a supplementary 

statement provided on 21 March which has been received by the Panel 

and that was largely in response to the issues raised by Mr Lewis. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Is there an intention that the Panel ask questions of 

Ms Evans on that supplementary statement? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well I can check.  I did not have any, I was sort of 35 

assuming that evidence was received according to our request and 

effectively not challenged by anyone and would just be, it is received, 

effectively received as part of the record but I will check if there are 

any Panel questions on that.  No there are no questions from the Panel 

on that. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  In that case we will just call Ms Evans 

on the 20 May statement. 
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<RUTH EVANS, affirmed [10.47 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [10.48 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Morning. 

 

MS EVANS:   Good morning. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you confirm that your full name is Ruth Christine 

Cameron Evans and that you have the qualifications and experience set 

out in previous statements of evidence given to the Panel? 

 10 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you and you have prepared a supplementary 

statement of evidence in response to directions from the Panel, dated 

20 May 2016? 15 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have any amendments or corrections to that 

evidence? 20 

 

MS EVANS:   There is one correction, on page 2 paragraph 3.2B.  It should 

read plane, not plan. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Subject to that correction, Ms Evans, do 25 

you confirm that your evidence is otherwise true and correct to the best 

of your - - - 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes I do. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And you have a summary of evidence.  Can 

you please read that out and remain to answer any questions. 

 

MS EVANS:   Okay.  My name is Ruth Evans.  I am a senior planner with 

Harrison Grierson and I have been engaged by the City Council to 35 

provide planning evidence for stage 3, Natural Hazards.  I have 

prepared a supplementary brief dated 20 May which provides some 

draft restricted discretionary activity provisions for dwellings in 

residential zones.  An updated proposal is attached to my 

supplementary evidence on 20 May.  I have one clarification to make.  40 

The revised proposal attached to my supplementary evidence contain 

the restricted discretionary provisions inserted directly into the proposal 

and I would just like to note that this was inserted to show where it 

would sit if the Panel was of a view to use this rule.  Its inclusion in the 

latest revised proposal does not indicate support or otherwise by the 45 

Council for this rule in that location. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  No, that is understood. 

 

MS EVANS:   Okay. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You were just providing a drafting service and we fully 

understand that. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 10 

MS EVANS:   Okay, thank you.  A draft amendment to policy 5.2.2.1B has 

been included in the restricted discretionary activity provisions for it 

were to be used and this amendment to the policies specifically 

provides for the type development that the restricted discretionary 

activity provisions address. 15 

 

 When preparing these revisions, the relationship with the underlying 

site management area rules was taken into account and the high flood 

hazard management area rules prepared on the basis that the flood 

management area rules would also apply, noting that these overlays 20 

serve different purposes. 

 

 The restricted discretionary activity rules are drafted so that any 

application will need to address the high flood hazard with respect to 

floor level, safe access and ensuring that the dwelling itself does not 25 

increase the hazard.  Six matters of discretion have been included 

relating to floor levels, building design, mitigation of flooding effects, 

intensification, access and the potential impact on safety, wellbeing and 

property.  

 30 

 In my evidence I have noted a concern with this approach to provide a 

more permissive pathway for dwellings and the inconsistency of this 

approach when comparing this type of activity to development in other 

zones, for example a sports facility in an Open Space Zone or 

residential activity in other zones.   35 

 

 Also attached to my evidence is a set of high flood hazard management 

area mapping that was requested by the Panel, showing that overlay 

under the 0 and 0.5 metre sea level rise scenarios.   

 40 

 Finally, I have covered two further amendments in the latest version of 

the proposal.  These are controlling topsoil and flood ponding 

management areas and extending the daylight recession plane 

exemption to the two stage 2 residential zones that are affected by 

FMAs, that is the Residential Hills and Residential Large Lot. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Evan.  Mr Schaffer. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR SCHAFFER [10.52 am] 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you very much.  So firstly I want to ask a question in 5 

relation to rule 5.4.6.1 P1 the high flood hazard management area 

permitted activities on page 33.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 10 

MR SCHAFFER:   Are there restrictions on replacement repair of dwellings to 

the same ground floor area as existing justified? 

 

MS EVANS:   Well I have given evidence on the inclusion of that rule in my 

evidence-in-chief so I would have covered off there not in this 15 

supplementary brief. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So can I ask, in that case, is the justification on the basis of 

death or injury or cost incurred in the event of flooding in terms of the 

restriction to extending the ground floor area? 20 

 

MS EVANS:   Well the purpose of that rule is simply to allow for those 

instances where existing use rights would not ordinarily apply but you 

may be moving your building slightly on the site or adding a second 

floor. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So does that answer imply that those are the reasons for 

the rule, they are not specifically related to the matters raised by the 

question, is that right?  Just so that we make sure the questions are 

answered, is that what you are saying? 30 

 

MS EVANS:   Yeah, yes. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Right, so would you accept a small ground floor area 

increase, say 10 percent, as permitted as of right? 35 

 

MS EVANS:   Again, the intention of that rule was just to cover off on 

instances where existing use rights may not have been achieved and the 

intention was not to increase the ground floor area because that has 

impacts on the way the flood hazard operates.  Like if you are taking up 40 

more ground floor area then you are displacing more water. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Understood.  Will fill and excavation of properties within 

the high flood hazard management area for the purpose of replacement 

and repair of residential units also be permitted? 45 
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MS EVANS:   There is no restrictions on earthworks contained within the high 

flood hazard management area that is controlled under the flood 

management area rules. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   And there is no restriction under those rules. 5 

 

MS EVANS:   There are controls on earthworks in the FMA rules. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So they are permitted? 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, you will have to speak up.  Look, I think the first 

answer is really probably as far as you – the first answer was they are 

in that part of the plan and I think it might have been addressed in the 

stage 1 decision. 

 15 

  [10.55 am] 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   I understand. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The rest of it is really the memory of the witness on what 20 

is in those provisions but they are there. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Understood, thank you. 

 

 I secondly want to ask some questions on the detail of rule 5.4.6.3 25 

RD2, restricted discretionary activities on page 34 in your evidence and 

also at point 4.8 in the discussion. So point 4.8, the draft RD rule 

includes six matters of discretion, so point A is floor levels discussed in 

4.9 of your evidence.  With respect to floor levels would small 

extensions to existing buildings be subject to new floor levels? 30 

 

MS EVANS:   Well, there would be an underlying FMA that would control the 

floor level and then if you are in the high flood hazard area you would 

be assessed against – you would look at the floor level as well.  So it 

would entirely depend on what the proposed floor level was. 35 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So let us take an example where you have an older house at 

a lower floor level and let us say the new floor level is half a metre 

higher and you want to extend your lounge by a foot for example, 

would that extension to your lounge have to be half a metre higher than 40 

the rest of the lounge? 

 

MS EVANS:   That is something that would be assessed under the rule because 

under C, RD2C, any addition to an existing residential unit you would 

have to cover off on those assessment matters listed in ‘A’ which 45 

includes the setting of minimum floor levels. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Schaffer, just so that you understand this because it 

can be quite confusing, so this is a matter that the Council can make 

decisions within.  In other words, to answer your question, it is possible 

that they could be imposed.  It is a matter that has to be considered 5 

under these provisions so it is possible. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Understood.  The final question about floor levels, is the 

one metre sea level rise incorporated into the floor level requirement? 

 10 

MS EVANS:   That is dependent on what mapping is included, what level of 

sea level rise it includes, but if it is zero metres then it won’t include – 

there is no component of sea level rise. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   In the current floor level requirement I think it is 12.3, is 15 

the - - - 

 

MS EVANS:   Well, there will – sorry, I will just go back.  Because all the 

high flood hazard management areas are also flood management areas, 

which include a one metre sea level rise, then that would affect the 20 

floor level.   

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Understood. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is a consequence of the Panel’s decision. 25 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which is not revisited today. 

 30 

MR SCHAFFER:   I understand that now, yes.   

 

 So point B, building design, can you confirm that you mean design in 

relation to flood hazard mitigation rather than look and style? 

 35 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Can you confirm that building design is limited specifically 

to raised floor levels, type of foundation and water flow? 

 40 

MS EVANS:   They would certainly be components of the design, there may 

be other elements that you would also look at.  They would be the key 

elements. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Do you have any idea of what other elements might be 45 

included? 
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MS EVANS:   No, not at this stage, they would be the key ones. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   On point C, is mitigation of effects of flooding, 4.10. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You mean Roman numeral (iii), don’t you?  A(iii) 

mitigation of the effects of flooding, is that what you said? 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, it is just that said you C but it is okay, you go 

ahead. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So discussed in point 4.10 as well. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So you say “It is anticipated that a dwelling in these areas 

would be encouraged to use pole foundations and building design that 

allows for flow of water”.  Can you confirm that you mean flow down 20 

through the soil rather than across land? 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

MS EVANS:   Well, it might be across land. 25 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So what I am getting at here, is it more about drainage or 

across land flow?  

 

MS EVANS:   We would look at both.  30 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Right, okay.  Well, would this be compatible in terms of the 

drainage aspect, would this be compatible with TC3 land foundation 

design where poles are based on solid concrete slabs at the surface, ie 

on sites where these types of foundations are required would it be 35 

possible to get a resource consent? 

 

MS EVANS:   I am not able to comment on the type of foundation required for 

TC3. 

 40 

MR SCHAFFER:   Well, I am not asking that so much, it is just that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps put the question in a different way.  The witness 

is not able to answer on the law on that, it might be a building consent 

issue or something - - - 45 
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MR SCHAFFER:   So we are talking about drainage here and water flow and I 

take it drainage is part of that and they are encouraging pole design I 

assume to encourage drainage.  Now, a TC3 foundation requirements 

require a concrete base on which the poles sit.  Now, that is impervious 

so drainage is not possible through that foundation type so therefore 5 

where these foundations are required would that mean you can’t pass 

this matter of discretion because the foundations are in fact impervious 

and not like poles where ground is impervious? 

 

MS EVANS:   Well, the matter of discretion is simply the building design 10 

which include the foundations so you may have to look at some other 

options I guess.  I am sorry I can’t comment further on the - - - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, I would observe we don’t have any evidence on 

design requirements for foundations on TC3 land so the question - - - 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, perhaps I might be able to help everyone with a 

slightly different – if you don’t mind I will put this in a slightly 

different way.  So if we go to A(iii), Ms Evans, and so there the 

Council’s discretion is restricted to the matters there and A(iii) allows 20 

the Council to consider mitigation of the effects of flooding.  And your 

paragraph 4.10 refers to your opinion that that might involve poles or 

could require a pole foundation.   

 

 If the scenario is that a building consent requires something other than 25 

a pole foundation, such as a slab or some other design for geotechnical 

reasons, what potential implications for consent or decline of consent 

arise from (iii)? 

 

MS EVANS:   Well, if it was in a situation where the water couldn’t flow 30 

under or around the house - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, let us say the building consent requirements and 

obviously it is a proposition that you can’t answer, you are not an 

expert at that, but let us take that preposition that the building consent 35 

requires there to be a form of foundation that involves, say, a raft 

design and a light slab.  Under that scenario there is a possibility of 

decline, isn’t there? 

 

MS EVANS:   There is a possibility of decline. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Unless that matter of discretion is clarified? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 
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MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you, your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, you may have not have opinion on whether it 

should be clarified or not and I will leave that for Mr Schaffer if he 5 

wants to ask about it. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Do you think this should be clarified? 

 

MS EVANS:   Well, I guess you would have to look at the whole application 10 

and the design as one and if there was some way of mitigating the 

effect of a building that had solid foundations, if you had another 

mitigation that would offer that then – yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 15 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you.  Point D, level of intensification discussed at - -

- 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is Roman numeral (iv)? 20 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Oh, sorry, yes. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, that is all right, I will just make sure the witness 

knows which one. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   And discussed at 4.11 in the document.  “The degree to 

which a new dwelling or replacement dwelling could result in an 30 

increase in people occupying the site”.  So in real terms how would the 

Council evaluate this matter of discretion if the proposal was, say, for a 

new family, a home on a vacant section in the high flood hazard 

management area, would the Council the applicant to say how many 

dependant relatives they had or would an application for a house, say, 35 

with three bedrooms be more likely to achieve this matter of discretion 

than, say, a house with four or five bedrooms? 

 

MS EVANS:   So the intention of that is to look at what might occur I guess 

over and above what would be permitted by the zone so a residential 40 

unit in a residential zone, that level of development would be 

anticipated.  What you might look at differently is if someone was 

putting in, say, a three-storey apartment sort of style house I guess 

where you are bringing more people into the high hazard area than 

what is anticipated by the zone because we have to look at what the 45 
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zone allows for and then what we are trying to prevent in terms of the 

hazard. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So that leads me to my next question in some ways, do you 

have a definition or guidelines as to the degree so that architects, 5 

developers, for that matter different planners, know where the limits 

are? 

 

MS EVANS:   No, I don’t have a - - - 

 10 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you.  So ‘E’ my document, I am up to point 5 now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Safe ingress and egress? 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Correct and 4.12 in the discussion, “Maintaining safe 15 

access to land, safe access to and from the dwelling is also critical in 

the event of high flood hazard”.  Do you have a definition of what 

would be safe access? 

 

MS EVANS:   Not a definition, no. 20 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Would you accept that in a typical flooding scenario that 

streets would be flooded as indeed would be individual properties? 

 

MS EVANS:   They may be. 25 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   If that is typical is it not likely that access to an individual 

site will be outside the control of the property owner? 

 

MS EVANS:   Internally of the site would be within the control of the property 30 

owner and it would be something that would need to be addressed as a 

whole when assessing the application, whether the streets are flooded 

or the public transport network is flooded. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   What I am getting at here is that access to the site surely 35 

becomes immaterial if the - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, just before you go any further I can see what you 

are saying but the difficulty you are getting into here is because this is a 

matter of discretion for an application it can be granted or declined or 40 

conditions can be set.  Then insofar as the Council is concerned that 

answer Ms Evans gave was effectively well, there may be matters 

relevant beyond the site that might factor into that.  Now, they are not, 

if the matter of discretion is at it said then they could be validly 

considered notwithstanding that the owner doesn’t have control over 45 

them, do you understand that? 
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MR SCHAFFER:   I understand.  I guess what we are trying to understand, and 

perhaps you can explain, is what an owner could do within their own 

site to effect safe access? 

 5 

MS EVANS:   If you were considering building a dwelling you might look at 

placing the dwelling where there was part of your site, for example, 

that may not be covered by the high flood hazard or placement of the 

driveway could be influenced by where the high flood hazard extent is.  

You could look at I guess raising parts of it to ensure your driveway 10 

was above the hazard and the house.  To be a few different options that 

you could look at. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you.  Point F which will be 6. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Roman numeral (vi).   

 

MR SCHAFFER:   “Potential impact on safety, wellbeing and property.”  In 

the plan on page 34 RD2A(vi). 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So this under the existing provisions from the first 

decision on natural hazards, is that right? 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Yes, so it is in the back of Ms Evans’ evidence. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, sorry. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Page 34. 

 

  [11.10 am] 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I beg your pardon.  Sorry, could you go back through that. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:  Yes, so potential impact on safety, wellbeing and property 

so in the Plan, page 34, RD2 A6. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Yes, thank you. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:  The term used is “reduce risk” and your evidence states 

“mitigate risk”.  Should “mitigate” be in the Plan.  This is discussed at 40 

4.13 in the evidence.   

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, well, it could read “addressing the risk”, I guess.  We are 

just looking at as something that the Council would be considering as 

part of their overall assessment so, yeah, the assessment matter is the 45 

risk to people’s safety, wellbeing and property. 
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MR SCHAFFER:   Yes, so I am trying to get at which term should be used. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, the answer is, the witness said it could be 

“mitigating” or it could be “addressing” so that would suggest the 5 

witness saw that there could be other adjectives, no, it is verbs.   

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Right, so that leads me to my next question, would you 

agree that putting a building on an empty section in the high flood has a 

management area introduces risk? 10 

 

MS EVANS:   Well, yes it does.  It does not introduce risk, the risk is there but 

requires the risk to be addressed. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Understood.  So if this is the case it is not possible to 15 

reduce risk by building, would you consider “mitigate risk” to be a 

more appropriate term in the Plan? 

 

MS EVANS:   They could be interchangeable, I think, to some extent. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can they?  You think about the work “reducing” and think 

about it in the context of that question.  Doesn’t “mitigation” allow for 

more flexibility? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, it does. 25 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So you accept that “mitigate” would be a better term than 

“reducing”? 

 

MS EVANS:  Yes. 30 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you.  Can you tell me what precisely is 

contemplated by this matter of discretion that is not already covered in 

points one to five? 

 35 

MS EVANS:   So, this is from a direct policy direction provided in the policy 

that sits within chapter 5 and also the Canterbury Regional Policy 

Statement. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So looking at that policy, does it add anything to (i) to 40 

(v)? 

 

MS EVANS:   I think that (i) to (v) would address (vi). 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   So that was, sorry. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So the answer is it does not add anything further or not? 

 

MS EVANS:   Well, I think it strengthens it from a policy point of view but I 

accept that the policy already directs that anyway and that those would 

cover it so possibly not. 5 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you.  My next section is Non-Compliant Activity 

5.4.6.4 on page 35 NC2.  Under this plan buildings other than 

residential such as shops, doctors’ surgeries, childcare, community 

facilities et cetera, appear to be non-compliant activity, is this correct? 10 

 

MS EVANS:   They are a non-complying activity if they do not meet P1 or 

RD2. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   And would they meet P1, RD2? 15 

 

MS EVANS:   Be entirely dependent on what the application was for.  If they 

met the activity-specific standards i.e. not increasing the ground floor 

area and not placing at a lower level on the site. 

 20 

MR SCHAFFER:   Isn’t P1 restricted to residential units? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry you just need to speak up.  So you are asking 

whether P1 is restricted to residential units? 

 25 

MS EVANS:   No, it is buildings, replacement or repair of buildings. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Right, okay, so it would have to be an existing commercial 

building. 

 30 

  [11.15 am] 

 

MS EVANS:   Or an existing building. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   That is helpful, thank you.  So just an extension to that, 35 

new commercial buildings would be non-compliant such as surf 

lifesaving clubs or community halls, would be non-complying activity. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, sir, neither of those are commercial activities. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, no, but I mean the general point I suppose is 

covered by the words themselves which the witness has, I think, 

probably answered, if it is not replacing a building and it is not 

repairing a building it is not covered by the P1. 

 45 

MR SCHAFFER:   Understood. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And then the logic of that follows so that when you read 

the non-complying activity rules for what they say, you end up in that 

category if you are not covered in the way that you have to be. 

 5 

MR SCHAFFER:   Understood.  On the basis of that you are in this activity, on 

what basis are such buildings non-compliant when risk could be 

mitigated in a similar way to the other buildings, or residential 

buildings under the restricted discretionary? 

 10 

MS EVANS:   Well, they are a non-complying activity by virtue of NC 2. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   It could be complying that what we are asking is risk could 

be mitigated in these buildings in the same way as a residential building 

under restricted discretionary, so should not they also be restricted 15 

discretionary? 

 

MS EVANS:   My position as outlined in my Stage 1 – evidence-in-chief, 

sorry, Stage 3 evidence-in-chief, is that the appropriate activity status is 

non-complying, we inserted the restricted discretionary rules as 20 

requested by the Panel, and that was for a fairly, I guess, specific use 

being a residential unit in a residential zone. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You might recall that exchange at the beginning when this 

witness made it clear, Mr Schaffer, that – and I acknowledged and said 25 

that it was understood by the Panel, that effectively this evidence brings 

to the Panel what the Panel asked for as a drafting service in order for 

the Panel to make its judgements on things in according with the 

directions of the Minute and the witness has made clear now and before 

that it does not change the opinion that she expressed in her evidence-30 

in-chief. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:  Just a small point on NC 1.  Can you confirm that 

subdivision non-compliance only applies within the high flood 

management area and not the FMA? 35 

 

MS EVANS:   NC 1 relates to the high flood management area, yes, that is 

what this whole rule is about.  There would be separate rules for 

subdivision in the other flood hazard areas. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Of course, when the areas intersect, you end up with the 

restrictions applying to subdivision if that is where your land happens 

to be. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   That is where we are coming from. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well perhaps now that you understand that, feel free 

to explore it. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   We understand that subdivision is non-compliant in the 

high flood hazard management area but that the flood management 5 

areas cover different and broader areas under the assumptions, 

particularly of zero sea level rise or even point 5. 

 

 What we are asking is, is the non-compliance in subdivision part of the 

FMA rule also, or is it just floor levels in them? 10 

 

MS EVANS:   There is a separate set of rules for flood management areas, and 

there is also a separate set of rules within the subdivision chapter, so I 

am not quite sure. 

 15 

MR SCHAFFER:   Are there subdivision rules relating to the flood 

management area? 

 

MS EVANS:   There is, within the subdivision chapter, there is a rule that 

relates to whether or not you are in a flood management area and then 20 

there is a separate set of rules for flood management areas, which are 

separate to these high flood hazard management area rules. 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 25 

MR SCHAFFER:   Perhaps, I will put it another way.   Is subdivision permitted 

in the flood management area? 

 

MS EVANS:   I do not believe so, I would have to check through. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I do not think we have got any permitted activity 

subdivisions anywhere in the plan. 

 

MS EVANS:   I believe it is a restricted discretionary activity in the 

subdivision chapter, that is my recall. 35 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in terms – and you understand the law on that being 

where there is an intersection between two areas and the same land is 40 

concerned, then you look at it on, if you like, a holistic basis and 

determine it to be non-complying as the more restrictive category in 

that scenario. 

 



 Page 553 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

MR SCHAFFER:   Understood.  A point on notification.  Do you agree that it 

is appropriate that applications for a restricted discretionary activity 

should be non-notified with no written approval required? 

 

MS EVANS:   Not necessarily, depends on the activity in question and the rule 5 

in question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps break it down a bit, look at certainty categories 

and see how you go. 

 10 

MS SCHAFFER:   So say for a residential building, would this require 

notification? 

 

MS EVANS:   That would be entirely dependent on the assessment that is 

made on the application submitted. 15 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Could you perhaps give us some ideas on what this criteria 

might be in terms of when it would have to be notified and when it 

wouldn’t? 

 20 

MS EVANS:   If the effects are considered to be more than minor it would be 

notified. 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Sorry, I didn’t hear that, sorry, I didn’t get your answer. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the witness said when the effects are considered to be 

more than minor, then it would be notified.  Now, that refers to the Act, 

how the Act works in the absence of a rule that specifies that it is to be 

on a limited notified, or non-notified track  

 30 

MR SCHAFFER:   Right.  Final question, about certification.  Do you consider 

it would a realistic option to have new dwellings as permitted activities 

if the applicant could provide an expert certificate to demonstrate flood 

hazard mitigation similar to rock fall provisions as adopted in the Stage 

6 decision. 35 

 

 I have printed off these and I think you have copies.  Referring to page 

71, the Rock fall annual individual fatality risks - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just pause for a minute, just making for sure the process is 40 

right here. 

 

 The witness appears to be referring to a document which Mr Schaffer 

appears to be referring to but I do not know if it ever came formally to 

the witness.  Is that your own copy, Ms Evans, if not I might have to 45 

put it through the proper channels.  
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MR WINCHESTER:   Page from the Stage 1, the Natural Hazards decision 

was circulated in advance so I have given a copy to Ms Evans. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine.  So yes, the secretary indicated there 

was, so what you are referring there to is page - - - 5 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   71 of - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it page 71? 

 10 

MR SCHAFFER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Page 71 of the Natural Hazards Decision, all right, and I 

have got a copy in front of me now. 

 15 

MR SCHAFFER:   So whether this could potentially be applied in the high 

flood hazard management area as well. 

 

MS EVANS:   No, I do not believe that would be appropriate. 

 20 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you, that is all the questions I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, the obvious question is why, I mean we can ask it 

later or we can ask it now. 

 25 

MR SCHAFFER:   Right, let’s carry on then.   So on what grounds would this 

not be appropriate? 

 

MS EVANS:   I think there is a lot of, I guess - well, I skim read this decision 

page that was only given to me right before coming here, but just in 30 

terms of certification for this type of hazard, I do not think it is 

appropriate because there is a number of different factors that would be 

considered and I think the resource consent process is the more 

appropriate pathway to give consent or otherwise. 

 35 

MR SCHAFFER:   Thank you, that is all the questions I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Illingsworth. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir.   40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There are a few questions from the Panel, I am sorry to do 

this to the Panel, but I need a quick break, so we will just have a two 

minute recess. 

 45 

ADJOURNED [11.25 am] 
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RESUMED [11.31 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Ms Huria? 

 5 

MS HURIA:   No thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Evans, now before I ask you my question, I 10 

just want to thank you for the renumbering that you did because that 

was quite difficult to read last time and so it is really good to have it all 

reordered and tidied up, so thank you if you did that or whoever did 

that it is really helpful to have that happening. 

 15 

 Now I asked Mr Whyte some questions about the different types of 

hazards that form part of these high flood hazards in different areas, 

whether it is mapped at the one metre or half or zero, in other words in 

the upper reaches of the rivers there is not much difference or any 

difference between the different mapping subset or assumptions, these 20 

areas are close to the river, they are clearly influenced by the river 

rising and becoming deeper and swifter, and then there are the ponding 

areas off the Avon and the Heathcote because the rivers risen and the 

water cannot get away, and then down – he said down at the estuary, 

around the estuary it is not to do with river flooding at all, it is just to 25 

do with the level of sea – the sea level they said. 

 

 So have you looked at the – I mean I know your position is that you 

think that a noncomplying activity is appropriate for new buildings in 

these areas, but you have given us the restricted discretionary – have 30 

you turned your mind at all to whether there would be more – it would 

be – whether a restricted discretionary would be more appropriate in 

some of those types of flooding situations, in other words the river 

flooding, the, I don’t know, the Travis Swamp ponding or around the 

estuary in terms of the level of mitigation, the level – the type of nature 35 

and the risk involved? 

 

MS EVANS:   I have given it some thought I guess in terms of preparing the 

restricted discretionary activity provisions. I guess there are parts of the 

high hazard area where there might just be a small pocket, and in those 40 

instances perhaps that might be more appropriate to have a more 

permissive pathway. And areas where we are going to be dealing with 

quickly rising, swiftly flowing water then, yes, I think noncomplying 

activity is more appropriate. 

45 
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  [11.35 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   And in areas where the sole determinant is a hundred year 

projection of sea level rise, is there any difference in those areas versus 

areas near a swiftly flowing deep river? 5 

 

MS EVANS:   Well I think we are required to plan for a hundred year horizon, 

so - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   No, but I am saying – well we are, we are trying to do that, I 10 

am just saying, is there any difference in your mind in the 

appropriateness of restricted discretionary versus noncomplying 

activity when what we are planning for is in some instances, say – and I 

think Mr Whyte said around (INDISTINCT 0.55), is not the 500 year 

flood or the swiftly flowing river, it is not solely the 100 year sea level 15 

rise component of that mapping? 

 

MS EVANS:   I guess my first position has always been noncomplying 

activity, and that is as a result of the policy direction within the Plan 

and the Regional Policy Statement and the nature of the risk and we 20 

can accept that in some instances restricted discretionary might be 

appropriate where – mainly around the – sorry, I am just losing my 

train of thought – around the – what type of hazard exists in some of 

the pockets where you might have water that rises slowly I guess. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and just happen to get over that one metre of that 

pocket. 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, because then I guess, in a neighbouring property, they 

would not be affected and so you have got a little bit of, I guess 30 

inconsistency there when we are using a map to determine activity 

status. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But you would not extend that to the estuary situation? 

 35 

MS EVANS:   No I do not think so. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And why not? 

 

MS EVANS:   I guess because we are planning for a long term planning 40 

horizon and to some extent I think if you were – I think it is appropriate 

to have that policy direction in place to determine whether or not the 

development is appropriate in that location. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay. Now if – I want you to look at the alternative situation 45 

and I know this is not your preferred situation, but if the Panel was of a 



 Page 557 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards Commenced 24.02.16 

mind to base any regulation in the high flood hazard area on a zero sea 

level rise, have you looked at the pros and cons of a restricted 

discretionary versus noncomplying in those areas, in other words, is it 

any different that if it was over the whole one metre rise area – I 

suppose I am interested in, what zone – at the one metre – at the zero 5 

sea level rise, what zones does the high flood hazard area encompass? 

 

MS EVANS:   The one metre? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No zero 10 

 

MS EVANS:   Zero sorry - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean is there much residential zone, cos a lot of it seems to 

be residential red zone - - -  15 

 

MS EVANS:   It does. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and rural. 

 20 

MS EVANS:   And rural, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And open space alongside the rivers. 

 

MS EVANS:   That is correct, that is from my overview and it is hard to look 25 

at, I guess every map, but that is correct – there are still areas of 

residential I think that are covered. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but not extensive areas of residential zone - - -  

 30 

MS EVANS:   Not when - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - if you put the red zone out of it. 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, not when compared to the one metre, no 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   In other words, so would many existing residential properties 

be affected by say a noncomplying activity rule in the zero metre 

mapping? 

 40 

MS EVANS:   Certainly less than under the one metre – I don’t know the exact 

number of properties that will be affected by the zero metre, but you 

can certainly see from the mapping that it is restricted to the, I guess 

some of the low level ponding areas. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Well are they the low level ponding areas or are they the 

areas near the rivers? 

 

MS EVANS:   Where there is zero metre? 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   And residential zone. 

 

MS EVANS:   Sorry? 

 

MS DAWSON:   I suppose I am wanting to know, where these resi-, if there 10 

are areas of residential zone in the zero metre mapping - - -  

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - where are they? Or if you have not looked do not worry. 15 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, I have not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I am just interested whether they are in the ponding situation, 

the estuary situation or the close to the river situation which Mr Whyte 20 

took me through. 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 

MS EVANS:   There are some along the river, I am just trying to think of 25 

where there is actual residential activity that is not within a residential 

zone that is still affected.    

 

 There are some areas around Brooklands, I think. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   I am thinking of just a residential zone. 

 

MS EVANS:   I would have to do that exercise. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Don’t worry if you haven’t.  My last question is about your 35 

change to the policy.  This policy is to provide for the restricted 

discretionary activity rule? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   If there was no restricted discretionary activity rule but, I 

mean, this is just looking at options here, but there was a change to the 

sea level rise basis for mapping the high flood hazards in this plan, 

would there need to be a change to the policy of some sort? 

 45 
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MS EVANS:   I do not believe so, you just read avoids subdivision, use or 

development where it will increase the potential risk. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the policy is really about changing the status of the 

activity rather than changing the presumptions for this Plan? 5 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that is all the questions I have. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Evans, just a few follow-up questions. If you could go 

to page 34 of your evidence again please, and I have just got some 

follow-up questions on this RD2 – just tell me when you are ready. 

 

 So just working my way through my notes on your answers to Mr 15 

Schaffer’s questions on clarity, what I took a note of and I just want to 

confirm with you, is in a (ii) alongside building design, and I indicated 

Mr Schaffer was asking questions in there about how much that 

encompassed and perhaps even into the aesthetics and architecture of 

design, and I think your answer was to agree that it is building design 20 

in regard to flood hazard management.  Is that right? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  And then if we go to (iv), again it was a 25 

question of clarification that the words being level of intensification the 

question regarding how much enquiry is done into a normal family 

situation more or less, and your answer was, “Beyond what is 

anticipated by the zone.”  

 30 

MS EVANS:   That would be fine one (ph 2.57). 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is the further clarification I wanted and likewise 

mitigating instead of reducing in six.  Is that right? 

 35 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The next two questions I have got, I want you to – and 

obviously I understand the theory of your evidence and providing this 

as a service to the Panel, but on those presumptions and just thinking 40 

about the most appropriate approach to regulation within that paradigm.  

If the paradigm is this, that instead of a restricted discretionary activity 

rule that pertains to the entire high flood hazard management area, 

instead there is a rule that applies to a defined subset of that, and that 

subset is one, two, it is either a subset that defines it to be in some 45 

mapping way the area that is where the hazard is determined 
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predominantly by sea level rise along the lines of Ms Dawson’s 

questions. 

 

 Alternatively, a further subset of that that it is a defined area in the 

vicinity of South Shore and New Brighton that has been the subject of 5 

debate before us and obviously perhaps on the basis of the Panel 

forming a view at some point on what is the most appropriate in light of 

what we do not have in front of us. 

 

 So if that assumption is that the RD rule is restricted in that geographic 10 

sense right back to those two scenarios, or one of them, would there be 

anything that you would tune in regard to the assessment criteria that 

you have listed in RD 2 if that was the presumption, or do you think 

that they would still work for that scenario as appropriate as you would 

see them? 15 

 

  [11.45 am] 

 

MS EVANS:   Just by clarification, are we talking about including something 

relating to sea level rise within the - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no, I just want you to assume that this RD rule is only 

geographically limited for the purposes of the question to those areas 

where sea level rise is the predominant influence or even perhaps more 

restricted to an area that is boxed out of the plan, say the South Shore 25 

New Brighton area? 

 

MS EVANS:   Well I think that the matters of discretion being restricted to 

those matters are the key, sort of core, components that you want to 

look at where assessing against a high flood hazard. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, and that is subject to the modifications we 

discussed a minute ago presumably. 

 

 What about on the matter under that scenario of it being confined in 35 

that way, and I want you to think about the different scenarios of 

activity that might be occurring and it might be somebody’s building a 

house in place of the one that was destroyed or finally they got their 

insurance settlement, they are putting a new house on there, it is 

replacing what was there originally, they have lost their existing use 40 

rights and so forth, or something that still fits the RDA categorisations 

that you have defined here.  What about notification. 

 

 We have in other parts of the plan supported by the Council, in most 

cases I think, rules that – in fact I think this is pretty much a theory of 45 
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the design of the plan – rules that try and define the relevant scope of 

notification. 

 

 So if the rule was confined in the way I have described, what is your 

opinion about whether or not there should be any rule here of that kind?  5 

 

MS EVANS:   I am just thinking through. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I want you to take a considered view, I am not wanting to 

push you into a particular view at all, I just want you to tell me what 10 

your view is. 

 

MS EVANS:   Just thinking it through, I do not believe that a non-notification 

clause would be appropriate thinking about immediate neighbours and 

people within that community. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And is that because the nature of the hazard, if it is 

predominantly sea level rise, could still have effects beyond the 

boundary of the site? 

 20 

MS EVANS:   It could. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, what about limited notification.  If one was to think 

about the neighbours interests as covered by limited notification? 

 25 

MS EVANS:   Limited notification would probably be appropriate in some of 

these, I am just thinking through the mitigation that might be proposed 

as part of any application in ensuring effects on neighbours. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So let’s assume that the interests of the neighbours are 30 

important, that might be relevant to mitigation, for instance, somebody 

might be faced with an ugly next door neighbour house or a similar 

thing or something which impacts on their own amenity values in some 

way or their safety. 

 35 

 If we look, at say, safe ingress and egress, would I be right to presume 

that beyond the immediate confines of the site and the immediate 

neighbours insofar as the street network is concerned, that is a matter 

the Council can manage without having to put it on a notification track. 

 40 

 Would that be right? 

 

MS EVANS:   Yes, I agree. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if the level of intensification is as defined by the – 45 

what is anticipated by the zone, and building design is in regard to 
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flood hazard management, the other matters that are relevant there – 

actually just to clarify, I think you agreed that (vi) was probably 

covered by roman numerals  (i) to (v)?  

 

MS EVANS:   I think that they are all considered to be covered. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so reflecting on all of that and bearing in mind your 

qualifications given earlier about the theory of your evidence, can you 

think of a reason why this would need still to be left with the open 

discretion on notification as the most appropriate approach under the 10 

Act, rather than limited notification? 

 

  [11.50 am] 

 

MS EVANS:   No, I do not see full notification being – would the clause be a 15 

standard one of being, these applications are non-notified because 

sometimes - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is actually a variety of expressions of this drafting 

we are finding in the plan but the typical theory of it would be 20 

something like, ‘This application shall not be publicly notified and 

shall only be limited notified to X or XYZ in the absence of written 

approval.  So X being, say the neighbours, are there any Y or Z or some 

other part of the alphabet that would force it to public notification as a 

matter of policy in terms of the application of the Act? 25 

 

MS EVANS:   It would be effects based, the effects - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well the plan is not effects based - - - 

 30 

MS EVANS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - the plan is policy driven in terms of the driving policy 

of the plan.  Can you think of a reason why this should be kept on a 

public notification track as opposed to being a limited notified to a 35 

defined set of interested parties? 

 

 I will ask you about the list depending on your answer.      

 

MS EVANS:   I think I am just struggling a little bit with it because of the fact 40 

that we are talking about the restricted discretionary activity rule, that I 

am not entirely comfortable with. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You can premise your answer on that basis. 

 45 
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MS EVANS:   Public notification would be required if the effects were minor 

looking at those matters of discretion which you have just gone - I 

guess, they would not require a public notification in terms of the flood 

hazard. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if they would not require public notification and if we 

assume the interests of neighbours are relevant and we assume the 

interest of the Council would be incorporated into the process, 

including in regard to the road network, and actually there is an access 

and egress in that sense, are there any other bodies or agencies that you 10 

could think of that should be specified? 

 

MS EVANS:   The Regional Council might be interested in this being a high 

flood hazard area. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am putting you on the spot, I realise that, and we will 

take your evidence on that understanding, so the Regional Council, and 

the Regional Council and the City have that civil defence responsibility 

as well, don’t they, embedded in them. 

 20 

MS EVANS:   That’s right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you think of anyone else? 

 

MS EVANS:   There would be various community groups I guess, the fire 25 

service. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the fire service. 

 

MS EVANS:   Emergency services. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What do you mean by community groups apart from 

them? 

 

MS EVANS:   Well, I was thinking about people that volunteer I guess in an 35 

emergency situation.  Thinking this through, I guess I am feeling less 

comfortable with the thought of not, with specifying the cause that it 

would be non-notified.  Because it is not there, that does not mean that 

the Council would notify in every instance.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I know you are uncomfortable about it, you have told us 

that already, so you cannot add anything to your evidence? 

 

MS EVANS:   There is nothing I can think of right now other than, you know, 

I guess I could think of more agencies that might have an interest. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So you have not thought about it in those terms? 

 

MS EVANS:   No, I haven’t. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, that is fine, thank you very much.  Mr Schaffer, 5 

any questions arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   No more questions, that is all. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester, any questions arising. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Nothing for me, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, thank you very much Ms Evans, the 

Panel does appreciate the work you have gone to and the quality of the 15 

way you have presented it with care and attention in drafting, so thank 

you for that, so you are free to go. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.54 am] 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester, I think before I will address you on the 

matter of closings, I will take another recess of five minutes to talk to 

my Panel members. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Certainly, sir. 25 

 

ADJOURNED [11.55 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.58 am] 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. So Mr Winchester, just addressing you on 

this, and obviously giving you assurance that the Panel’s full intention 

is to deal with this on the basis of evaluating the alternatives in 

accordance with the evidence and everything in front of us, so bear that 

in mind.  35 

 

 One thing which I think would assist us, and we will issue a minute on 

this as a first step, in terms of evaluating options, I think the Panel will 

be interested in seeing another map, and that would be a map which 

would, in the minute, describe what we want, more or less that area 40 

around the estuary, including the Southshore area, Brighton, that where 

the predominant influence is the sea level rise matter, and that is in 

order for us to reflect upon whether or not the most appropriate course 

would be a restricted discretionary activity confined to that particular 

part. 45 
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 The Panel is mindful, for instance, in regard to the evidence in the 

submissions and representations made to us, which are all part of the 

mix, and which we are all considering very carefully, nevertheless they 

are relatively geographically defined in this regard as well, and there 

are obvious dangers of going beyond that in terms of revisiting 5 

mapping where we have not, for instance, had submissions or 

representations or evidence to suggest that what the Council has put 

forward is necessary and appropriate.  

 

  [12.00 pm] 10 

 

 So in terms of the evaluation of options, and terms of the thinking on 

closing, I think if you were to focus on that, that would be also useful 

for us. 

 15 

MR WINCHETER:   Obliged to you, sir, and certainly during the course of this 

morning’s reconvened hearing that issue of the appropriate level of 

regulation is becoming more sharply defined and certainly understood 

where the Panel is coming from, and there is probably an evidential 

basis to make distinctions.  20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Bearing in mind what is before the Panel on this matter. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, bearing in mind the different mixtures in the 

equation as was explained this morning as to why it is well minded of 

that. So I think what we would probably ask for, again with the writers 

that are provided in terms of the Council’s fulfilling a duel role of 

presenting its position and assisting the Panel with drafting, is that first 30 

stage we may ask that the restricted discretionary activity rule be 

revisited around that sort of theorem as well, and that the issue of what 

the most appropriate, if any, rule for notification would need to be 

considered, so we might need to ask you to, for our reflection and our 

evaluation, draft a rule that would be before us for considering on the 35 

merits in that regard, reserving the Council’s position on all of that. 

 

 So if that was the first step, I do not know whether you have got any 

sense of it now from what was done before as to how long a mapping 

of that could be done because I am rather keen to actually now set a 40 

timetable to actually get closings in so we can actually get to actually 

writing a decision. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. So in terms of the map, sir - - -  

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If that was the first step – or it could presumably, well - - - 
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MR WINCHESTER:   A map and a rule? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It could be together with any revision to the rules package 

the Council wanted to volunteer as well, which could be done, I 5 

suppose, as that first step normally is. So that might be the first thing 

we would want, so an update, the final position the Council has for the 

purpose of closing submissions, pending its own closing on the 

provisions package, where you can present any change of position, if 

any, that the Council has taken on anything, and alongside that what we 10 

would direct in the minute in regard to the mapping service issue I just 

discussed at the same time. 

 

 The next step would be for parties to be able to present their closing 

submissions with the final closing coming in from the Council.  15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I suppose the Council’s GIS people are under a fair bit 

of pressure, I just cannot say with any certainty as to how quickly that 

map would be able to be done. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, I will leave it floating at the moment, but if 

you could make those enquiries and just informally let the secretariat 

know by email what the logistics of those things are, I will then prepare 

the minute, which will set the directions and everything. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you, sir. I was going to suggest that. I will do 

my best to advise the secretariat today of an appropriate date. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. Well, you may as well in that also suggest a 

timetable, if it occurs to you, as to perhaps a sequence which might be 30 

– it normally is a week between each set, more or less. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Mr Schaffer, is there anything that you wanted 35 

to ask? 

 

MR SCHAFFER:   Nothing more from me, thank you very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Okay, well, thank you everyone. It has been 40 

helpful to the Panel as well to have this further session of hearing. So 

subject to – at this stage I adjourn the hearing again, but on the basis 

that you can expect a minute which will give directions as I indicated to 

you on all of these matters. 

45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   As the Panel pleases. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 12.04 PM ACCORDINGLY 


